IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

STATE OF IOWA, )  
 )  
 Plaintiff-Appellee, )  
 )  
 v. ) S.CT. NO. 16-0736  
 )  
 BION BLAKE INGRAM, )  
 )  
 Defendant-Appellant. )

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR JASPER COUNTY  
HONORABLE STEVEN J. HOLWERDA, JUDGE

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

MARK C. SMITH  
State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY  
Assistant Appellate Defender  
mconroy@spd.state.ia.us  
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

### **I. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS?**

#### **Authorities**

State v. Wright, 441 N.W.2d 364, 366 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d 720, 725 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Freeman, 705 N.W.2d 293, 297 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Howard, 509 N.W.2d 764, 767 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371, 377 (Iowa 2007)

U.S. Const. amend. IV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 8

State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Lowe, 812 N.W.2d 554, 567 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Fleming, 790 N.W.2d 560, 564 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Huisman, 544 N.W.2d 433, 436 (Iowa 1996)

State v. McGrane, 733 N.W.2d 671, 676 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Gillespie, 619 N.W.2d 345, 350 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Jackson, 542 N.W.2d 842, 845 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Flanders, 546 N.W.2d 221, 223–24  
(Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

State v. Halliburton, 539 N.W.2d 339, 342–43 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Arellano, 863 N.W.2d 36, 2015 WL 105978, at \*3 n.2  
(Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

People v. Walker, 980 N.E.2d 937, 940 (N.Y. 2012)

United States v. Kennedy, 427 F.3d 1136, 1144 (8th Cir. 2005)

Fair v. State, 627 N.E.2d 427, 432 (Ind. 1993)

Florida v. Wells, 495 U.S. at 4–5 (1990)

State v. Molder, 337 S.W.3d 403 (Texas Ct. App. 2011)

Briscoe v. State, 30 A.3d 870, 878 (Md. 2011)

State v. Shamblin, 763 P.2d 425, 427–28 (Utah Ct. App. 1988)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 285 (Iowa 2000) overruled on  
other grounds by State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 n.2  
(Iowa 2001)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 268–91 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Roth, 305 N.W.2d 501, 506–07 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Davis, 304 N.W.2d 432, 434

State v. Daniel, 589 P.2d 408, 417–18 (Alaska 1979)

State v. Opperman, 247 N.W.2d 673, 675 (S.D. 1976)

State v. Sawyer, 571 P.2d 1131, 1134 (Mont. 1977) overruled on other grounds by State v. Long, 700 P.2d 153 (Mont. 1985)  
State v. Wisdom, 349 P.3d 953, 965 (Wash. App. 2015)

State v. Lucas, 859 N.E.2d 1244 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007)

People v. Scigliano, 241 Cal. Rptr. 546, 549–50  
(Cal. Ct. App. 1987)

Johnson v. State, 137 P.3d 903 (Wyo. 2006)

People v. Parks, 370 P.3d 346, 351–52 (Colo. App. 2015)

State v. Hite, 338 P.3d 803, 809 (Oregon Ct. App. 2014)

State v. Mangold, 414 A.2d 1312, 1318 (N.J. 1980)

South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 369 (1976)

State v. White, 958 P.2d 982, 987 (Wash. 1998)

State v. Wisdom, 349 P.3d 953, 963 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 809–10 (Iowa 2013)

Donald P. Racheter, The Iowa Constitution: Rights over Mechanics, in The Constitutionalism of American States 479, 479 (George E. Connor & Christopher W. Hammons eds., 2008)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 482 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Strong, 493 N.W.2d 834, 836 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197, 206 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Kern, 831 N.W.2d 149, 177 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Elison, 14 P.3d 456, 469 (Mont. 2000)

Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 461 (1971)

State v. Casteel, 392 N.W.2d 168, 173 (Iowa Ct. App. 1986)

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 345 (2009)

State v. Post, 286 N.W.2d 195, (Iowa 1979)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554, 561 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27–28 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Brothorn, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

**II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY POSSESSED A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE?**

**Authorities**

State v. Abbas, 561 N.W.2d 72, 74 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Sanford, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Torres, 495 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Keopasa euth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 639–40 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Kemp, 688 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Webb, 648 N.W.2d 72, 75 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Petithory, 702 N.W.2d 854, 856–57 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Limbrecht, 600 N.W.2d 316, 317 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Harrison, 325 N.W.770, 772–73 (Iowa Ct. App. 1982)

State v. Reeves, 209 N.W.2d 18, 21 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 10 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Padavich, 536 N.W.2d 743, 751 (Iowa 1995)

State v. Thomas, 847 N.W.2d 438, 442 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775, 784 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Harris, 647 So.2d 337, 339 (La. 1994)

State v. Cashen, 666 N.W.2d 566, 571 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Atkinson, 620 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Carter, 696 N.W.2d 31, 40 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Taylor, 763 N.W.2d 276, 2009 WL 139502, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Henderson, 696 N.W.2d 5, 9 (Iowa 2005)

People v. Hagberg, 733 N.E.3d 1271, 1274 (Ill. 2000)

State v. Jackson, 161 468 N.W.2d 431, 431 (Wis. 1991)

State in Interest of J.W., 597 So.2d 1056, 1058–59  
(La. Ct. App. 1992)

L.R. v. State, 557 So.2d 121, 122 (Dist. Ct. App. Florida 1990)

People v. Jason, 694 N.Y.S.2d 908, 910 (N.Y. Justice Ct. 1999)

Alan Harris, A Test of a Different Color: The Limited Value of Presumptive Field Drug Tests and Why That Value Demands Their Exclusion from Trial, Southwestern Law Review 531, 541–42 (2011)

Ryan Gabrielson & Topher Sanders, How a \$2 Roadside Drug Test Sends Innocent People to Jail, New York Times Magazine, (July 7, 2016), [http://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/10/magazine/how-a-2-roadside-drug-test-sends-innocent-people-to-jail.html?\\_r=0](http://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/10/magazine/how-a-2-roadside-drug-test-sends-innocent-people-to-jail.html?_r=0)

State v. Dye, 572 N.W.2d 524, 528 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997)

Editorial: Drug field tests unreliable, The News Star (July 26, 2016, 5:04 a.m.), <http://www.thenewsstar.com/story/opinion/editorials/2016/07/26/editorial-drug-field-tests-unreliable/87537392>

Field Tests: Scientists say, “Useless!” Courts say, “Not Always!”, 2 No. 5 Criminal Practice Guide 4 (June 2001)

Giannelli & Imwinkelried, Scientific Evidence § 22-2(B) at 355 (3<sup>rd</sup> ed. 1999)

State v. Martinez, 59 A.3d 975, 990 (Conn. App. Ct. 2013), overruled on other grounds by State v. Martinez, 127 A.3d 164 (Conn. 2015)

Radley Balko, A partial list of things that field testing drug kits have mistakenly identified as contraband, The Washington Post (Feb. 26, 2015), <https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/the-watch/wp/2015/02/26/a-partial-list-of-things-that-field-testing-drug-kits-have-mistakenly-identified-as-contraband>

Mimi Hall, False results put drug tests under microscope, USA Today (Nov. 11, 2008, 9:15 p.m.), [http://usatoday30.usatoday.com/news/nation/2008-11-03-drugkits\\_N.htm](http://usatoday30.usatoday.com/news/nation/2008-11-03-drugkits_N.htm) [hereinafter Hall, USA Today]

Chad Mills, Kershaw County gets new drug testing device, wistv.com (July 30, 2016, 9:01 a.m.), <http://www.wistv.com/story/32578266/kershaw-county-gets-new-drug-testing-device>

Cleve R. Wootson Jr., Florida man arrested when officer mistakes Krispy Kreme doughnut glaze for meth (July 29, 2016), <https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/morning-mix/wp/2016/07/29/florida-man-arrested-when-officer-mistakes-krispy-kreme-donut-glaze-for-meth/>

U.S. Department of Justice, Law Enforcement and Corrections Standards and Testing Program, Color Test Reagents/Kits for Preliminary Identification of Drugs of Abuse: NIJ Standard-0604.01 p.7 (July 2000), available at <https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/183258.pdf>.

5 D. Faigman et al., Modern Scientific Evidence: The Law and Science of Expert Testimony (2011 Ed.) § 42.5, p.555

Kurt M. Grates et al., National Forensic Science Technology Center, Conclusion of Validation Study of Commercially Available Field Test Kits for Common Drugs, available at [http://www.nfstc.org/wp-content/files//FIDOAAFS2008\\_21.pdf](http://www.nfstc.org/wp-content/files//FIDOAAFS2008_21.pdf).

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 172 (Iowa 2011)

In the Interest of C.T., 521 N.W.2d 754, 757 (Iowa 1994)

**III. WAS TRIAL COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CHALLENGE THE ADMISSIBILITY OF THE RESULTS OF THE FIELD TEST KIT?**

**Authorities**

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 10

State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 866 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 878 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Lane, 743 N.W.2d 178, 181 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 379–80 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203, 210 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Schoelerman, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Greene, 595 N.W.2d 24, 29 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435–36 (Iowa 1983)

Washington v. Scurr, 304 N.W.2d 231, 235 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

Osborn v. State, 573 N.W.2d 917, 922 (Iowa 1998)

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200, 203 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa Code § 814.7(2)–(3) (2016)

State v. Ceron, 573 N.W.2d 587, 590 (Iowa 1997)

Jack King, 'False Positives' Report Calls Drug Field Tests Useless; 'Untold Thousands of Wrongful Arrests' 33 APR Champion 12, 15

Loggins v. State, No. 13–1587, 2015 WL 567002, at \*2 n.2 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 11, 2015)

Doolin v. State, 970 N.E.2d 785, 789 (Ind. Ct. App. 2012)

State v. McClennen, 192 P.3d 1255, 1259 (N.M. Ct. App. 2008), overruled on other grounds by State v. Tollardo, 275 P.3d 110 (N.M. 2012)

Galbraith v. Commonwealth, 446 S.E.2d 633, 740 (Va. Ct. App. 1994)

Fortune v. State, 696 S.E.2d 120, 124 (Ga. Ct. App. 2010)

State v. Brown, 656 N.W.2d 355, 360 (Iowa 2003)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case because the issues raised involve substantial issues of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c).

Specifically, it argues the Iowa Constitution provides more protection for individuals than the U.S. Constitution with regards to inventory searches and asks the Court to overrule State v. Roth, 305 N.W.2d 501 (Iowa 1981), to the extent it states the article I, section 8 of Iowa Constitution should be interpreted lockstep with the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution with regards to inventory searches. It also argues a positive result from a drug field testing kit is insufficient to establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the substance is an illegal drug when the record lacks any evidence regarding the reliability of the kit.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** Defendant–Appellant Bion Blake Ingram appeals his conviction, sentence, and judgment following a bench trial on the minutes of testimony and verdict

finding him guilty of Possession of a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine), Second Offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2016).

**Course of Proceedings:** On November 9, 2015, the State charged Ingram with Possession of a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine), Second Offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2016). (Trial Information; Supplemental Trial Information) (App. pp. 6-7; 8-9).

Pursuant to a court order, the arraignment was scheduled for November 18, 2015. (Approval Trial Information & Order Arraignment) (App. pp. 18-19). It is not clear from the record that Ingram was ever arraigned. On November 18, 2015, an order states Ingram has not waived speedy and schedules a pretrial conference; however there is no entry indicating Ingram was arraigned on the charge. (Order Setting Hr'g) (App. pp. 20-21). A written arraignment was not filed.

On December 11, 2015, Ingram filed a motion to suppress seeking to exclude evidence obtained during his traffic stop on October 30, 2015. (Mot. Suppress) (App. pp. 22-23). The court heard the motion to suppress on January 28, 2016. (Suppress. Hr'g Tr. p.1 L.1–p.38 L.19). During the hearing, the State admitted photographs of the black bag and its contents and a vehicle inventory report. (Suppress. Hr'g Tr. p.13 L.19–p.16 L.5) (Ex. 1, 2, & 3) (App. pp. 24-26). Additionally, the State presented testimony from one of the officers involved, and Ingram testified on his own behalf. (Suppress. Hr'g Tr. p.4 L.4–p.33 L.1). Following the hearing, Ingram filed a memorandum in support of his motion, and the State filed a response. (Mem. Supp. Mot. Suppress.; Resp. Def.'s Mem.) (App. pp. 27-29; 30). On February 3, 2016, the district court issued a written ruling denying Ingram's Motion to Suppress. (Suppress Ruling) (App. pp. 31-35).

On March 30, 2016, Ingram waived his right to a jury trial<sup>1</sup> and stipulated to a bench trial on the minutes of testimony and the attached police reports. (Trial Tr. p.2 L.1–p.3 L.22). The court took the matter under advisement and subsequently issued written verdict finding Ingram guilty of Possession of a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine), Second Offense, in violation of section 124.401(5), and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, in violation of section 124.414, on April 4, 2016. (Trial Tr. p.3 L.23–p.4 L.1) (Guilty Verdict) (App. pp. 36-38).

On April 27, 2016, the district court sentenced Ingram to sixty days in jail, with all but seven days suspended, and it placed Ingram on probation. (Sentencing Tr. p.6 L.11–14) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 39-41). The court imposed a fine of \$625, the criminal penalty surcharge, the \$125 Law Enforcement Initiative surcharge, and the \$10 Drug Abuse Resistance Education surcharge. (Sentencing Tr. p.6 L.11–14)

---

<sup>1</sup> No written waiver was filed in accordance with Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.17(1). The court did conduct an in-court colloquy with Ingram regarding the waiver. (Trial Tr. p.2 L.18–p.3 L.22).

(Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 39-41). It also ordered Ingram to pay the court costs and restitution for reimbursement of court-appointed attorney fees. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 39-41). Ingram's driver's license was revoked for one hundred and eighty days pursuant to Iowa Code section 901.5(10), and he was ordered to submit a DNA sample under section 81.2(1). (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 39-41).

Ingram timely filed a notice of appeal on April 27, 2016. (Notice Appeal) (App. pp. 42-43).

**Facts:** For the bench trial, the parties stipulated to the minutes of testimony and attached police reports, which support the following facts:

At approximately 6:39 a.m. on October 30, 2015, Jasper County Sheriff Deputy Jeremy John Burdt observed a vehicle travelling north down Highway 14 in Jasper County. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). As the vehicle passed him, Deputy Burdt noticed the vehicle's license plate light was not properly illuminated. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Deputy Burdt pulled the vehicle over for this violation, and he made contact

with Ingram, who was the car's driver and sole occupant.

(Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

After Deputy Burdt pulled over the vehicle, Bernard Eckert, an officer with the Newton Police Department, also responded. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Both officers noticed the vehicle's registration sticker did not correspond with the vehicle's plate and was supposed to be on a different vehicle's plate. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). As a result of the registration violation, the officers decided to impound the vehicle. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

Ingram told Deputy Burdt he had been previously given a citation for the license plate light and that he did not have the registration or insurance information because it was not his car. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Ingram declined to search the vehicle for the registration and insurance, stating he had attempted to find them for the previous citation and could not locate them. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

Deputy Burdt told Ingram the car would be towed for the registration violation. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). In

response to the officer's questioning whether anything of value was in the car, Ingram stated nothing and again informed the deputy he was only borrowing the car; Ingram also stated both he and his girlfriend drive the car. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Ingram removed his work-related items from the vehicle. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

Deputy Burdt requested Ingram go back with him to his patrol vehicle while he wrote the citations for the traffic violations. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Deputy Burdt asked Officer Eckert to conduct an inventory of the car while they waited for the tow service to arrive. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Ingram called a friend from his cell phone for a ride to work. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

While inventorying the vehicle, Officer Eckert discovered a black cloth bag next to the gas pedal on the driver's side floorboard. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Officer Eckert opened the bag and discovered a glass pipe with white residue and an Icebreakers container with several plastic bags. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). One of the plastic bags contained a

crystal substance. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). The officers placed Ingram under arrest and read him his Miranda rights. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

When confronted about the substance and pipe by the officers, Ingram denied knowing that the items were in the car. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). Ingram asked the officers where and how much of the drug was found. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17). When told by the officers that it was found by the gas pedal, Ingram indicated he did not notice anything and did not look at the floorboard. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

Officer Eckert took the substance back to the Newton Police Department, where it field tested positive for methamphetamine. (Mins. Test.) (App. pp. 10-17).

Ingram was previously convicted of Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in Lucas County, Iowa, on August 3, 2009.

Any other relevant facts will be discussed below.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

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