IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 16-0736

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

BION INGRAM,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR JASPER COUNTY
THE HONORABLE STEVEN J. HOLWERDA, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
kyle.hanson@iowa.gov

MICHAEL K. JACOBSEN
Jasper County Attorney

KELLY T. BENNETT
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.”). Ingram never filed a motion to enlarge, so he failed to preserve error concerning the deputy’s decision to impound the car.

Standard of Review

“We review constitutional issues de novo.” *State v. Vance*, 790 N.W.2d 775, 780 (Iowa 2010).

Discussion

The impound inventory did not violate Ingram’s Fourth Amendment rights. First, the fraudulent registration and lack of insurance provided non-investigatory purposes to impound the vehicle. Second, the cloth bag on the floorboard fell within the proper scope of the inventory. Therefore, the district court correctly approved the inventory.

“One well-recognized exception to the warrant clause is a vehicle inventory search.” *State v. Huisman*, 544 N.W.2d 433, 436 (Iowa 1996) (citing *Colorado v. Bertine*, 479 U.S. 367, 371 (1987); *South Dakota v. Opperman*, 428 U.S. 364, 369–71 (1976)). “This exception responds to the practical problems arising when police remove a vehicle’s operator and are then left to care for that vehicle.

In such circumstances, police act in a caretaking capacity rather than as criminal investigators.” *Id.* (citations omitted). “The legality of an inventory search depends on two overlapping inquiries: the validity of the impoundment and the scope of the inventory.” *Id.*

A. Deputy Burdt validly impounded the car.

Police had valid, non-investigatory reasons to impound the car Ingram was driving. The record on this issue is thin because Ingram’s motion did not seem to challenge the impoundment decision. *See* Suppr. Ruling at 2; App. 32 (“The authority of the deputy to . . . impound the car was not challenged.”). However, even the undeveloped record discloses that impoundment was necessary because the car was not legal to drive. It had fraudulent registration and no proof of insurance, so Deputy Burdt properly chose to remove it from the road.

“[P]olice may lawfully choose to impound a vehicle so long as that decision is made ‘according to standardized criteria and on the basis of something other than suspicion of evidence of criminal activity.’” *Id.* at 437 (quoting *Bertine*, 479 U.S. at 375). “[W]e look for the existence of reasonable standardized procedures and a purpose other than the investigation of criminal activity.” *Id.* The

standardized criteria “need not be exclusively written.” *Id.* “[A]n investigatory purpose invalidates an inventory search only if the search is conducted for the sole purpose of investigation.” *Id.* at 439 (citations omitted). “We do not analyze the subjective motivations of the officers.” *Id.* at 440.

The registration violations provided grounds to impound the car. After stopping Ingram, Deputy Burdt discovered that the car’s registration was expired and that a current-year registration sticker belonging to a different vehicle had been affixed to the plate. Suppr. Tr. p. 6, line 5 – p. 7, line 4. Ingram did not produce a registration card. Suppr. Tr. p. 10, lines 6–13. Operating a motor vehicle without proper registration is a simple misdemeanor. Iowa Code §§ 321.17 (misdemeanor to violate registration provisions), 321.98 (operation without registration). Likewise, it is illegal to alter a plate with a registration sticker belonging to another vehicle. *Id.* §§ 321.99 (fraudulent use of registration), 321.100 (false evidence of registration). These registration violations led Deputy Burdt to impound the vehicle. Suppr. Tr. p. 9, lines 5–13.

This case is analogous to *State v. Aderholdt*, 545 N.W.2d 559 (Iowa 1996). In *Aderholdt*, a trooper chose to impound an illegally

unregistered car that he had a “hunch” contained narcotics. *Id.* at 564. The department’s procedural manual left “much” of the decision to impound “to individual trooper discretion,” and the trooper had rarely towed cars for registration violations in the past. *Id.* at 564–65. The Court recognized the “dilemma” that “the trooper could not lawfully permit an unregistered vehicle to be driven.” *Id.* at 565 (citing various registration statutes from Chapter 321). Even though the trooper exercised discretion to impound the car, the Court approved the impoundment because his decision “was consistent with a reasonable interpretation of departmental regulations and state statutes.” *Id.* Just as in *Aderholdt*, Deputy Burdt had a lawful, non-investigatory reason to impound the car because it was illegal for Ingram to operate it without proper registration.

Similarly, the lack of insurance provided a non-investigatory reason to impound the car. Ingram could not produce proof that the vehicle was insured. Suppr. Tr. p. 10, lines 6–13. Iowa’s financial responsibility statute grants authority for officers to impound a vehicle when the driver is unable to provide proof of insurance. Iowa Code § 321.20B(4)(a)(4). Thus, Ingram’s failure to produce proof of insurance justified the impoundment. *See State v. Bitker*, No. 13-

0520, 2014 WL 468228, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 5, 2014) (“Because our statute allows for impoundment where a driver cannot produce proof of insurance, we find that when viewed objectively, the officer was allowed to impound Bitker’s vehicle.”).

Next, Ingram places undue weight on other options such as the deputy allowing the car to be “left on the side of the road or driven off from the scene.” Def. Br. at 37. First, the Fourth Amendment “does not require that the police seek less invasive alternatives to impoundment . . .” *Huisman*, 544 N.W.2d at 439. Second, the less intrusive means that Ingram suggests were not reasonable under the circumstances. Deputy Burdt could not just park the vehicle on the main highway through Newton—in fact, traffic safety concerns led him to offer to take Ingram to a gas station rather than having someone pick him up along the highway. Suppr. Tr. p. 8, lines 18–24. And Deputy Burdt could not permit Ingram to drive the car with fraudulent registration, just as the trooper in *Aderholdt* “could not lawfully permit an unregistered vehicle to be driven.” *Aderholdt*, 545 N.W.2d at 565. Consequently, the Fourth Amendment did not require Deputy Burdt to select a less intrusive alternative to impoundment.

Even assuming Ingram adequately preserved error on this issue, the record supports Deputy Burdt's decision to impound the car. The fraudulent registration and lack of insurance provided non-investigatory reasons to remove the car from the road. Therefore, the deputy's conduct satisfied the threshold inquiry because the impoundment itself was proper.

B. The cloth bag containing drugs was within the proper scope of the inventory.

Officer Eckert did not exceed the lawful scope of the inventory. First, the inventory was required by departmental policy. Second, inspecting the cloth bag fulfilled the acceptable purposes of an inventory because it was large enough to contain valuables. Third, there is no indication that the inspection of the cloth bag violated any prohibition against opening closed containers.

Once police take control of the car, they can inventory it according to standardized criteria. *Huisman*, 544 N.W.2d at 440. “[I]nventory procedures serve to protect an owner’s property while it is in the custody of the police, to insure against claims of lost, stolen, or vandalized property, and to guard the police from danger.” *Bertine*, 479 U.S. at 372; see also *State v. Jackson*, 542 N.W.2d 842, 845 (Iowa 1996) (“Inventory searches are justified for three ‘safe

keeping’ purposes: (1) to protect the owner’s property while the vehicle is in police custody; (2) to protect the police officer who performs the inventory search against claims or disputes over the property; and (3) to protect the police officer from potential danger.”).

Officers can open closed containers during the inventory. In *Bertine*, the Court rejected a rule requiring “that police, before inventorying a container, weigh the strength of the individual’s privacy interest in the container against the possibility that the container might serve as a repository for dangerous or valuable items.” *Bertine*, 479 U.S. at 374; *see also Florida v. Wells*, 495 U.S. 1, 4 (1990) (stating a department’s inventory policy can be constitutional even if it grants individual officers “sufficient latitude to determine whether a particular container should or should not be opened . . .”). Similarly, the Iowa Supreme Court has rejected the “less intrusive manner” argument that an officer “could have adequately inventoried the contents of [the defendant’s] vehicle without opening all closed containers.” *Jackson*, 542 N.W.2d at 845–46.

Jasper County has a policy that required an inventory of the car Ingram was driving. The sheriff's office standard operating procedure (SOP) manual includes a policy for inventorying towed cars. Suppr. Tr. p. 9, lines 14–20, p. 21, lines 8–16. The policy requires a report to document the vehicle and its contents as well as where the vehicle is being towed. Suppr. Tr. p. 21, line 8 – p. 22, line 4. Admittedly this Court's review would be simpler if the district court had received a copy of the county's inventory policy. But even without the written policy, the deputy's testimony at the suppression hearing established that inventorying the car was required by departmental standards.

Contrary to Ingram's argument, this case does not present "the same issue" as *Wells*. See Def. Br. at 40. The *Wells* Court invalidated an inventory because "the Florida Highway Patrol had no policy whatever with respect to the opening of closed containers . . ." *Wells*, 495 U.S. at 4. Even though the district court did not have a copy of Jasper County's inventory policy, Deputy Burdt's testimony establishes that the county has such a policy. Permitting the opening of closed containers is the only way that policy could fulfill the three purposes for the inventory exception. Professor LaFave notes,

At least one court has concluded that a policy which lacks such specificity but declares that the purpose of regular inventories is to protect owners' property and to protect the police from claims also suffices, for the reason that such objectives can be achieved only if the contents of all containers are examined.

3 Wayne R. LaFare, *Search & Seizure* § 7.4(a) (5th ed., Westlaw 2016) (citing *United States v. Frank*, 864 F.2d 992 (3d Cir. 1988)). Thus, the Court should not presume that any opening of closed containers violated the county's policy.

Next, the cloth bag fell within the lawful scope of the inventory. The bag was large enough to contain valuables such as coins or jewelry. Suppr. Tr. p. 16, line 15 – p. 17, line 8. The interests of preserving the owner's property and protecting police and their agents against claims justified inspecting the bag.

Of particular significance, the record does not support Ingram's main complaint concerning "whether a law enforcement officer could open a closed container during an inventory search." Def. Br. at 40. There was no proof that the cloth bag was closed or that Officer Eckert opened it. Photos of the bag depict an open drawstring at the top (Suppr. Ex. 1–2; App. 24–25), and there is no indication that the drawstring was ever closed. Officer Eckert's report stated, "I

observed a black cloth bag lying on the driver's side floor board next to the gas pedal. I picked up the bag and observed a glass pipe with white residue." Minutes (Eckert report); App. 14. This description suggests the officer was able to see the contraband just by picking up the bag, not opening it. And once he had observed the methamphetamine pipe inside the bag, he had probable cause for further inspection. *See* Minutes (Eckert report); App. 14 (stating that after observing the glass pipe with white residue, "I emptied the contents of the bag . . .").

Officer Eckert did not exceed the scope of a lawful inventory. He acted at the direction of Deputy Burdt, whose departmental policy required an inventory before the impounded car was towed away. Inspecting the cloth bag fulfilled the purpose of locating any valuable property contained in the car. And even assuming the department's policy prohibited opening closed containers, there is no proof that Officer Eckert had to open the drawstring to observe the contraband inside. Accordingly, the district court properly rejected Ingram's Fourth Amendment challenge.

II. Ingram Fails to Justify a Different Rule Under the Iowa Constitution Because There Is No Persuasive Reason to Depart from the Fourth Amendment’s Treatment of Impound Inventories.

Preservation of Error

Ingram only preserved error for the limited issue of whether the Iowa Constitution forbids the opening of closed containers during an impound inventory. In the district court, he argued that “[t]he search of the black bag and other portions of the vehicle not open to view” violated Article I, section. 8. Motion to Suppress at 2; App. 23. But he did not contend that the Iowa Constitution prohibits all inventories, and he conceded that police inventorying an impounded vehicle should at least be allowed “a cursory view of the contents of the vehicle so that the items in it can be identified in the event that some are missing later.” Def. Memo. at 3; App. 29. And he analogized *State v. Gaskins*, 866 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015), which concerned the opening of a locked safe during a search incident to arrest. *See* Motion to Suppress at 2; App. 23 (“The black bag would be equivalent to the safe in *Gaskins*. Law enforcement does not need to inspect the contents of the black bag to inventory the vehicle. A note of the black bag itself was sufficient.”). Similarly, the district court confined its Iowa constitutional analysis to whether *Gaskins*

controlled the opening of closed containers. Suppr. Ruling at 2–3; App. 32–33.

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